
Please note refreshments are available in the room from 5.30pm

Agenda
1. Introductions and Apologies  

County Councillor Prynn

To note who is attending and any apologies for absence.

2. Notes of the Meetings and Matters Arising from 16 June 
2016 and 4 August 2016  

(Pages 1 - 16)

County Councillor Prynn

To agree for accuracy the notes of the meeting and receive any matters arising.

3. What our Elected Members have been doing (15 mins)  
County Councillor Prynn and other Elected Members

To note feedback from work undertaken by the Chair of the Board and our Elected 
Members as part of their role on the CPB, including Member visits carried out 
since the last meeting.

What have our Young People been doing?

4. LINX (Lancashire's Children in Care Council) (60 mins)  
Young People and Barnardos

To receive feedback on the work our young people have been doing:

What LINX have been doing
Young Inspectors
Feedback on CPB Report
In Care, Out of Trouble

Corporate Parenting Board
Thursday, 8th September, 2016 at 6.00 pm 

Cabinet Room 'C' - The Duke of Lancaster Room, 
County Hall, Preston



What Do We Need to Know

5. In Care Out of Trouble Report (30 mins)  
Tony Morrissey/Robert Ruston/Superintendent Andrea Barrow

To discuss the report.  

Receive feedback from the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner and 
Police on what they are doing to support children in care and care leavers.  

Receive statistics on children looked after and care leavers who are cautioned/end 
up in the criminal justice system in Lancashire.

6. IRO Annual Report (15 mins)  (Pages 17 - 58)
Sally Allen/Andy Smith

To receive the report.

7. Any Other Business  
County Councillor Prynn

To receive any other business.

8. Date and Time of Next Meeting  
County Councillor Prynn

Thursday, 1 December 2016 at 6.00pm (refreshments served from 5.30pm) in the 
Henry Bollinbroke Room – Cabinet Room 'D', County Hall, Preston, PR1 8RJ.

Information Item

9. Care Leavers Guide - An Update Report  (Pages 59 - 60)
To note the report.

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwiNg8OYqO7OAhXEC8AKHVbxCqIQFggjMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.prisonreformtrust.org.uk%2FPortals%2F0%2FDocuments%2FIn%2520care%2520out%2520of%2520trouble%2520summary.pdf&usg=AFQjCNE2h8sBwaIVUAhbyfp6q52jzy8ivw&bvm=bv.131669213,bs.2,d.bGg


1

Lancashire County Council

Corporate Parenting Board

Minutes of the Meeting held on Thursday, 4th August, 2016 at 1.30 pm in 
Cabinet Room 'C' - The Duke of Lancaster Room, County Hall, Preston

Present: Members

County Councillor 
Matthew Tomlinson

- Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
and Schools

County Councillor 
Lorraine Beavers

- Lancashire County Council

County Councillor 
Margaret Brindle

- Lancashire County Council

County Councillor Ian 
Brown

- Lancashire County Council

County Councillor 
Dorothy Lord

- Lancashire County Council

County Councillor Sue 
Prynn (Chair)

- Lancashire County Council

County Councillor 
Cynthia Dereli

- Lancashire County Council

Jane Simpson - representing Foster Carers
Catherine - representing Adoption
Paige - LINX
Charlotte - LINX
Sam R - LINX
Bradley - LINX
Sam W - LINX

Co-opted members

Diane Booth - Children's Social Care
Kate Baggaley - Barnardos
Debbie Nolan-Plunkett - Barnardos
Susan Towers - Agency Residential

Other Attendees

Kirsty Clarke - Lancashire Children's Rights Society
Sam Gorton (Clerk) - Democratic Services, LCC
Reni Hall - Barnardos
Kerry Haslam - Barnardos
Anna Howarth - Lancashire Care Foundation Trust
Colette Lawler - Lancashire Care Foundation Trust
Thomas Redfearn - Children's Rights Society
Kady - POWAR

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



2

Evie - POWAR
William - POWAR
Kora - POWAR
Courtney - POWAR
Emma - POWAR
Rosie - POWAR
Matthew - POWAR
Kirsten - POWAR

1.  Icebreaker

As this was a young person's meeting, the Chair for the meeting was Charlotte.

Charlotte welcomed POWAR (Lancashire County Council's participation group for 
children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities) who 
joined LINX (Lancashire's Children in Care Council) to receive their Diana Award 
certificates and to feedback on some exciting collaborative work that has been 
going on in Lancashire.

Evie introduced the icebreaker, where the Board were asked to highlight their 
Country's identity, be it real or imaginary which encouraged people to think about 
the following qualities:

 Pulling together
 Every person in the team plays a crucial role
 Team leadership
 Discipline
 Motivation
 Talent
 Hard work
 Support and encouragement
 Trust
 Dealing with set backs
 Learning from the experts

Each group came up with imaginary countries and detailed their reasoning 
behind the names they had come up with.

The countries were as follows:

 Peaceful Island
 Gold Fogia
 Happy Winners
 Wonderland

Page 2



3

2.  What Have LINX Been Doing

Bradley then informed the Board on what LINX had been doing since the last 
Corporate Parenting Board meeting.

The powerpoint that Bradley designed is attached detailing all LINX' activities.

Children's Rights Alliance for England (CRAE)

Feedback on exciting work that the CRAE had been doing was given by William 
who has been part of the steering group called See it, Say it, Change it, since 
January 2015.  Mark from the LINX group is also a member.

Last year they carried out research and worked on writing a report about how 
children's rights are not being respected in the UK.  They covered issues such as 
standard of living, children in care, health and education.  In October, they went 
to the United Nations in Geneva to present the report to the Committee on the 
rights of the child.  Since then they have met with Edward Timpson, MP twice to 
discuss the recommendations which have made and has agreed to meet with the 
group twice a year.

This year they have been on two residentials.  On the last one, they all voted on a 
particular issue to focus their campaign work on.  They decided that the issue 
would be housing, as many children and families are being housed in poor and 
overcrowded accommodation.  They will continue to meet up regularly to work on 
this issue ad they are also going to be looking for ten more young people to join 
the group.

North West Regional Children in Care Conference

Charlotte informed the Board about the North West Regional Children in Care 
Conference which took place at County Hall in Preston on Saturday, 2 July 2016.

There were approximately sixty children and young people aged from 10 to 23 
years. 

They covered Children in Care Councils from Blackburn and Darwen, Blackpool, 
Bolton, Bury, Cumbria, Halton, Lancashire, Liverpool, Manchester, Oldham, 
Rochdale, Salford, Stockport, Tameside, Trafford, Wirral, and Wigan.

There were four workshops running on the day.

1. The Children’s Commissioners’ workshop called share and learn was to 
explore and draw out from the children and young people the questions that 
they hoped the Children in Care Council website page would address.

2. Lancashire ran a workshop explaining their campaign work around raising 
awareness of the pupil premium plus grants.

3. Trafford ran a workshop around the use of technology and social media.
4. Youth Focus North West ran a workshop around entitlements for care leavers.

Page 3



4

The main themes that emerged from the children and young people were:

1. Wanting to know their rights and what they are entitled to at a national, local 
and individual level.

2. Better communication on their individual cases.
3. Understanding the care system as well as jargon and the language that can 

be used by professionals.

This was the first regional conference that the Children’s Commissioner, Anne 
Longfield had attended.  She stayed all day to answer individual questions and 
inform young people about her plans to help support Looked After Children and 
Care Leavers.  She was interested in knowing the answers to the following 
questions:

a) What is the best thing about being part of a children in care council?
b) Why is it important to listen to children in care?
c) What do you think about getting together today?

Answers included:

"Being part of a Children in Care Council gives me a voice to improve my own life 
and other children and young people’s". 

"I enjoy getting together with other children and young people in similar 
circumstances".

"It’s important to listen to children in care because we are the experts in our own 
right as we experience what it is like every day".

"We feel more in control of own lives when listened to".

"Being part of a Children inCare Council helps to create a sense of citizenship 
and being part of a community.  It feels good to be able to make things better for 
others in similar situations".

All the feedback from the day was very positive.  The children and young people 
particularly liked hearing from each other and taking ideas back to their own 
Children in Care Councils.

The next North West Regional Children in Care Council is taking place in 
Knowsley in November.  LINX are meeting up with Knowsley’s Children in Care 
Council on the 18 August 2016 to help to plan this conference.

3.  Council Tax and Care Leavers

County Councillor Prynn gave an update on what had happened since the last 
CPB meeting.  A Notice of Motion had been presented at Full Council on 21 July 
2016 and all Councillors were supportive of the motion for Council Tax Exemption 

Page 4



5

up to the age of 25 years for Care Leavers.  A letter will now be sent to Central 
Government urging them to amend the Children and Social Work Bill that is 
currently being considered by Parliament to reflect this.  Lancashire MPs will also 
be written to seeking their support to any such amendment to the Bill. Jo Turton, 
the Council’s Chief Executive, will be asked to write to District Councils within the 
council to urge them to introduce a Council Tax Exemption for care leavers within 
their jurisdictions.

Thomas Redfearn from the Children's Society was welcomed to the meeting, and 
he gave some background on what he had been doing across the Country with 
regards Council Tax Exemption for Care Leavers.  He gave feedback that the 
work of the CPB in Lancashire was in the top five Authorities in the Country which 
was very positive.  Those Councils who have implemented Council Tax 
Exemption(or publicly stated they would) are:

-       North Somerset 
-       Cheshire East
-       Stockport 
-       Birmingham (have committed to implementing it from next April)

Thomas was very pleased that Lancashire had agreed to take it forward also.

The Board then split into groups to work on a paragraph to be inserted in the 
letter that young people would send to District Councils asking them to make 
Care Leavers exempt from Council Tax up to the age of 25.  It was noted that 
District Councils should be reminded that they are also Corporate Parents too.  
Young people were also encouraged to write to their own District Councils 
individually as well.

LINX collected the suggestions and a final draft of the letter would be sent to CC 
Prynn and Thomas Redfearn for comments.

Action: LINX to send a copy of the final draft letter to CC Prynn and 
Thomas Redfearn for comments.

Thomas also said that there was a new Care Leavers Strategy called Keep on 
Caring which the Government have produced.  It gives a detailed breakdown of 
what a Care Leaver should expect when leaving care.  Some members of LINX 
influenced the strategy when they went down to Parliament.

Children's Society are also keen to do a lot more work around mental health and 
for CAMHS to include care leavers as a priority group.

Thomas was thanked for his attendance.

Page 5



6

4.  Young Inspectors

Sam R presented his young inspectors slideshow that he had designed on The 
Hawthorns Residential Unit.  The presentation is attached.  The Young 
Inspectors visited the Unit in October 2015 and then revisited it in May 2016.

Sam told the Board that being a young inspector requires you to have good skills 
of observation so that you can spot things that staff or young people may not be 
telling you.  He then tested the Boards skills of observation by showing a short 
film and asking 10 questions on it afterwards.

The Board then split into two groups and a young inspector joined each of the 
groups where members of the Board asked them questions on their experiences 
of carrying out the visits and looked at some examples of the young inspectors' 
reports that they had carried out.

5.  SEND Collaborative Workshop

Emma, Rosie and Evie from POWAR gave feedback from the SEND Together 
workshop which was held on 2 July 2016.  

Links to the two films as shown at the meeting are below.  The first was made 
before the first workshop in June to explain the purpose of the workshop and the 
second film was made after the workshop had taken place to inform young 
people and adults about what had taken place.

Film 1:
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=l-tElBCH4Pc&feature=youtu.be

Film 2:
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Lj1bkjo0SKs

In Lancashire, children, young people, parent carers and those who deliver 
services for children and young people with special educational needs and 
disabilities, are starting their journey to work together.

On the 2nd June 2016 #Sendtogether launched this journey, a journey that is 
innovative, exciting and challenging - as it is a brand new way of working.

There are challenges on this journey and Lancashire know that they will not be 
able to give everyone all that they want, but they want to make a difference to the 
future of children and young people with special educational needs and 
disabilities in Lancashire.

At the first workshop the discussions and activities produced the following four 
steps needed for this journey to be successful.

1. Engage – this means involving everyone to develop services in the right place 
at the right time.

Page 6

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=l-tElBCH4Pc&feature=youtu.be
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Lj1bkjo0SKs


7

2. Listen – time must be spent listening to what people want so that services are 
not wasted on things that are not needed. We need to make sure everyone 
has an equal voice and is heard.

3. Participate – we need to work as a team and make sure collaboration is done 
equally with everyone involved.

4. Co-produce – by building on what we know and using people's energy, 
experience and knowledge to shape our services.

By everyone working together, children, young people and their families will get 
the right support at the right time.  This will be achieved by looking at what 
services there are now and building on this to make a better future.

A new strategy will be implemented, but this will be challenging as there are 
limited resources.

#SENDtogether brings children and young people, parents and carers, to be 
involved in influencing plans for SEND services together - and the next steps are 
to invite along people from services that support young people with Education, 
Health and Care plans.

This will include the people who decide where the funding goes, those from the 
places and services that the young people use, and also those who they look up 
to inspire them.

Our four promises from the first day are that we will:

1. include everybody
2. spread the word in a range of ways
3. share success
4. use any lessons learnt

The next steps are:

Step one - The SEND together group is going to provide a voice for parents, 
carers and young people in influencing the plans for SEND during the coming 
year.

Step two –This new way of working will be evaluated after the next two 
workshops.

Step three – Young people's participation will be supported through POWAR.

Step four –The Lancashire Parent Carer Forum and their role in the workshop 
will be included going forward.

Step five - POWAR will present progress to Lancashire County Council senior 
officers and Councillors.

Step six – Ground rules will be adopted going forward.

Page 7



8

The next workshop will be in November.

6.  Diana Award

CC Tomlinson presented LINX and POWAR with their Diana Award which they 
had been nominated for.  The inspection teams are made up of 15 inspirational 
young people who have collectively volunteered over a hundred hours of their 
time to carry out inspections.

Over the last three years the young inspectors have visited many Lancashire 
County Council (LCC) residential homes, private residential homes, LCC and 
private fostering agencies and other services for children and young people.

The Board congratulated the young people on this fantastic achievement.

7.  Evaluation

Everybody was asked to fill in an evaluation form from the meeting on what they 
liked about the meeting and what they would like to see at the next meeting from 
young people?

The results are attached.

8.  Date and Time of Next Meeting

Thursday, 8 September 2016 at 6.00pm (refreshments served from 5.30pm) in 
the Duke of Lancaster Room (formerly Cabinet Room 'C'), County Hall, Preston, 
PR1 8RJ.

Page 8



1

Lancashire County Council

Corporate Parenting Board

Minutes of the Meeting held on Thursday, 16th June, 2016 at 6.00 pm in 
Cabinet Room 'C' - The Duke of Lancaster Room, County Hall, Preston

Present: Members

County Councillor 
Lorraine Beavers

- Lancashire County Council

County Councillor Ian 
Brown

- Lancashire County Council

County Councillor Julie 
Gibson

- Lancashire County Council

County Councillor Sue 
Prynn (Chair)

- Lancashire County Council

County Councillor Miss 
Kim Snape

- Lancashire County Council

Jane Simpson - representing Foster Carers
Lynsey Evans - Fostering Forum
Tony Morrissey - Deputy Director, Children's Services
Kristal - LINX Representative
Sam R - LINX Representative
Gavin - LINX Representative
Bradley - LINX Representative
Sam W - LINX Representative
Kris - LINX Representative
Paige - LINX Representative

Co-opted members

Debbie Ross - Designated Nurse for CLA, representing 
CCG

Diane Booth - Children's Social Care
Mia Leyland - Barnardos
Susan Towers - Agency Residential
Amanda Mansfield - Independent Reviewing Officers
Annette McNeil - Policy, Information and Commissioning 

Service
Rebecca Wilkinson - Barnardos

Other Attendees

Sam Gorton (Clerk) - Democratic Services, LCC
Mark Burrows - Children's Rights Society
Shagufta Khan - Children's Rights Society
Barbara Bath - Fostering, Adoption, Residential and YOT

Page 9



2

1.  Appointment of Chair

The Board noted that County Councillor Susan Prynn was the Chair of the Board 
for the municipal year 2016/2017.

2.  Introductions and Apologies

All were welcomed to the meeting and apologies were received and noted from 
County Councillor Brindle, Dr Nicky Bamford, Catherine, Kate Baggaley, Joanna 
Hunt, Audrey Swann, Angela Epps, Debbie Duffell and Kirsty Clarke.

3.  Membership and Terms of Reference

The Board agreed the current membership and Terms of Reference and noted 
that membership had been increased to include private providers from fostering 
and residential settings that are commissioned by Lancashire County Council 
(LCC).

4.  Notes of the Meeting and Matters Arising from 28 April 2016

The notes of the previous meeting were agreed as an accurate record.

5.  What our Elected Members have been doing

CC Brindle

CC Prynn reported on behalf of CC Brindle that she had followed up with the 
Head of Housing Department at Burnley Borough Council with regards care 
leavers and housing benefit and she is still awaiting a response.  CC Brindle 
stated that she would follow this up.

CC Prynn

CC Prynn reported that following the last CPB meeting she had set up three Task 
and Finish Groups and the following elected members had been assigned to the 
following specific groups:

Mental Health – CC Brown and CC Prynn
Housing – CC Kim Snape and CC Prynn
Care Leavers Policy/Core Offer – CC Beavers and CC Prynn

The groups will carry out individual pieces of work to assure the quality of 
provision and practice in these areas.  This will help inform the Care Leavers 
Policy and Core Offer.  A combined Task Group report will then be completed 
and shared with CC Tomlinson, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Schools.

Page 10



3

The Children's Services Scrutiny Board has a Youth Offending Team (YOT) 
subgroup of which CC Prynn is a member.  This subgroup is looking at a set of 
recommendations for children in care when they enter the criminal justice system.  
CC Prynn tabled the "In Care, Out of Trouble" report as attached, which is an 
independent review chaired by Lord Laming.

The key element to this report is Appendix One on page 21.  The Board and LINX 
were asked to look at Appendix One and send any comments on this to CC 
Prynn and Tony Morrissey, who will then look at taking it forward on behalf of the 
Board.  CC Prynn will look at working with criminal justice agencies and how the 
Board can help prevent care leavers entering into the criminal justice system.

Action: Board members and LINX to send comments on Appendix One to 
CC Prynn and Tony Morrissey.

CC Beavers

CC Beavers attends the Fostering Panels that are held at County Hall and 
commented on how the panel has welcomed the questions provided by LINX 
(Lancashire's Children in Care Council) for them to ask potential foster carers and 
to share with carers what a young person would be looking for when they are 
looked after by them.  It was felt this had enhanced the process and it was good 
to include young people's views/questions in the assessment.

CC Gibson

CC Gibson reported back on the Hate Crime Strategy that was mentioned at the 
last meeting.  Feedback has been received and CC Gibson is now working with 
officers on this.  A meeting with the Police has also taken place too.

CC Gibson is a member of Children's Services Scrutiny Board which is currently 
looking at SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disabilities) and putting 
together a set of recommendations.

With regards Regulation 22, CC Gibson stated that she is hoping to carry two out 
in the next few months.

CC Prynn congratulated LINX Young Inspectors who had recently been awarded 
the Diana Award 2016 in the Champion Volunteer category.  Mia Leyland had 
nominated them, explaining about the number of hours they had volunteered to 
carry out inspections on behalf of Lancashire's children in care.  Also a young 
person from a home where an inspection had been carried out, was a beneficiary 
and wrote about how the young inspectors had improved the services that they 
received.  There are 14 young inspectors in total and they will visit Althorp in 
June/July and receive a certificate.

The Board congratulated the LINX Young Inspectors on their success.

Page 11



4

6.  LINX (Lancashire's Children in Care Council)

What Have LINX Been Doing?

LINX began their session by informing the Board on what they had been up to 
since the last CPB.  A copy of the PowerPoint detailing this is attached.

Lynsey Evans, Foster Carer had attended the session at Woodlands on fostering 
teenagers, and she reported that feedback from this event had changed some 
carers perspectives on teenagers, who are now looking into taking teenagers into 
their care.

Young Inspectors

The attached PowerPoint showed the Board what they had been doing.

It was requested that a breakdown of the reports that have been carried out be 
brought to the next meeting.

Action: Young Inspectors to provide a further breakdown on the reports.

Care Leaver's Pledge from the Children's Society

A short film was shown from the recent Care Leavers event that took place.  A 
link can be found here.

Mark Burrows, from the Children's Society, updated the Board on the Care 
Leavers Festival that took place in Manchester and spoke about the Pledge that 
Care Leavers had created.  The festival was designed by young people across 
the North West to bring them together along with professionals and to share 
issues.

The Pledge can be found here and individuals, groups, teams, County 
Councillors and Authorities were urged to sign up to it to show that they are 
committed to changing how they think and work with care leavers in achieving 
what they want.

Action: All members were asked to share the link and encourage people to 
sign up.

Mark reported that at a Corporate Level across the North West, talks are being 
held around Council Tax Exemption and debt, financial management and 
education of care leavers.  Different authorities are at different stages, however 
the discussions are being had even at parliamentary level – Edward Timpson is 
looking at the proposal for Council Tax exemption for care leavers.

With regards the council tax exemption, LINX were asked to write a letter to all 
the Councillors with Housing responsibilities in the District Councils and the CPB 

Page 12

https://youtu.be/PADJD1wJOGk
http://bit.ly/24VuOWt


5

would endorse the proposal within the letter.  LINX were asked to also include 
discretionary payments in the letter.

Action: LINX to write a letter for the next CPB meeting, so the Board can 
endorse the proposal and distribute.

Care Leavers Activity

The Board were asked to look at the attached and decide which of the list were 
the top two priorities for care leavers in Lancashire.

Following discussions it was noted that adults felt that care leavers would have 
the following as the most important:

How much money will I have?
How will I sort out debts and manage my money?

However as can be seen from the attached, care leavers felt that the following 
were the top two most important pieces of information that they required:

What does a tenancy agreement mean?
What happens if I have a broken pipe/boiler?

CPB Performance Report

The Board noted the attached which was presented by LINX.

Fostering Teenagers

LINX have recently been involved in an event at Woodlands, where they spoke to 
foster carers around fostering teenagers and what it was that they felt they 
needed from them as carers.  Please see attached PowerPoint.

Also the Board took part in an activity (as attached), which shows how a young 
person thinks and how their brain works.  Answers are attached separately.

The final activity was for the Board to look at the positives of fostering teenagers.  
Attached are the results from the flipcharts.

Once again the Board thanked LINX for their fantastic contribution.

7.  Housing

Diane Booth updated the Board on progress that was being made with housing 
and homelessness.

Attached is a copy of the letter on the Children and Social Work Bill that was sent 
to Edward Timpson.

Page 13



6

The Local Authority has a Board called SALO which stands for "Supported 
Accommodation Learning Offer" which Bob Stott chairs.  There are lots of Task 
and Finish Groups coming out of it which are continuing the engagement of CYP 
and challenging suitability around accommodation.  The Board are looking at five 
different areas as outlined on the Positive Pathways Model document attached to 
these minutes.

A Housing Strategy is also being developed and at a recent conference in 
Lancashire, all Chief Executives and Leads for Housing from the District Councils 
turned up, which is a very positive message.  It will also include 18/19 year olds 
who have never been in care, however, may be vulnerable, out of work and 
homeless.

Annette McNeil has been doing a piece of work around accommodation that care 
leavers have been in over the last 12 months.

However, there are barriers, as the housing benefits are due to change soon, 
which will have implications and will not be able to meet the needs of an 18 year 
old living alone, which is very challenging for the young person.

Action: Diane Booth to forward the legislation to CC Prynn that this has 
come from and when it is due to come in.

The challenge to the Authority is to support care leavers up 25, however more 
information is required before the offer can be given.  Hopefully further 
information will be available at the September CPB meeting.  Children's Social 
Care (CSC) Senior Managers met with Care Leavers on 15 June 2016 to discuss 
further and Diane will be meeting with LINX again in two weeks' time.  The 
districts are driving this and Housing Needs Officers are really keen and 
knowledgeable around benefits and what can and cannot be reasonably met.

Diane updated on joint training will be provided to care leavers and homeless 
young people by their Personal Advisors up to the age of 21 years of age.  Care 
leavers will receive a £2000 leaving care grant to help them set up their 
accommodation.  Six independence training sessions are also planned and if 
successful we will roll this out across the Districts.  Wraparound support is 
crucial.

It was raised that later on within the private rented sector, it needs to be part of 
the framework agreement to give the young person a second chance.

Diane outlined that The Staying Put Policy also needs to be reviewed and this 
can be done as part of the Care Leavers Group.

Action: Care Leavers Task Group to review The Staying Put Policy.

A young person asked what the plans were for Out of Hours Support outside of 
9am-5pm?  Talks are taking place with Service 6, where this service is working 
really well and look at expanding it and making it more permanent.  The young 

Page 14



7

person suggested looking at an advice line with a rota of professionals who work 
with Care Leavers – work in conjunction with the Emergency Duty Team.

Action: Barbara Bath to look at ways of providing Out of Hours support to 
Care Leavers.

8.  Fostering Update

Barbara Bath, Head of Fostering, Adoption, Residential and Youth Offending 
Team Services, spoke to the presentation attached which is from an Inspection 
perspective.

Barbara reported that it was really useful that the young people were working with 
foster carers on supporting teenagers and this had also been highlighted as a 
requirement from the Ofsted Inspection.

Moving forward it is hoped that young people will become part of the assessment 
process and training of new foster carers and supporting workshops and forums 
too.  This is a positive move going forward, so there will be lots of ways that 
young people will be influencing carers and adopters of the future.

The Recruitment Strategy for fostering and adoption has been re-written.

The Lifestory backlog has been cleared and there is now a process in place to 
ensure this does not happen again.

It was requested that data on successful adoptions in Lancashire be circulated to 
the Board.

Action: Barbara to send the adoption data to Sam Gorton to circulate to the 
Board.

9.  Any Other Business

There was no other business.

10.  Date and Time of Next Meeting

Thursday, 4 August 2016 at 1.30pm in the Duke of Lancaster Room (formerly 
Cabinet Room 'C'), County Hall, Preston, PR1 8RJ.

11.  PROUD Evaluation

This item was not discussed at the meeting as it was for information
only.  

Page 15



8

Any issues arising from it, please forward to Sam Gorton, Clerk to the
CPB who will forward to the relevant Elected Members/officers.

Page 16



Independent Reviewing Officers

Annual Report 2015 - 2016
Looked After Children and Safeguarding

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 2 •

Contents

1. Executive Summary       Page 3 - 5

    2. Progress on Recommendations for 2015      Page 5 - 8

3. Foreword       Page 8 - 9 

4. The IRO Service        Page 9 - 11 

5. Performance       Page 12 - 18

6. Quality Assurance       Page 19 - 29

7. Good Practice and Problem Resolution        Page 29 - 34

8. Challenges                      Page 34 - 36

9. Priorities for 2016/17                    Page 36 - 38

10. Conclusion                                       Page 38

Appendix 1 Service Hierarchy       Page 39

Appendix 2 Post Qualifying Experience        Page 40 - 41

Page 18



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 3 •

1. Executive Summary

This is the Annual Report of the Lancashire Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) 

Service for the period from the 1st April 2015 to the 31st March 2016.

The statutory requirement for this report is found in the Children and Young Person’s 

Act, 2008 and subsequent statutory guidance published by the Department for 

Children, Schools and Families, 2010 (The IRO Handbook). The report will be 

presented to the Senior Leadership Team, Corporate Parenting Board and the 

Lancashire Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) and will be available as a public 

document. 

In 2014/15 the IRO Service operated with 30 full-time equivalent (FTE) IROs. Despite 

some additional investment in the service IRO caseloads remained high with an 

average caseload of 109, which was significantly higher than the number 

recommended in the IRO handbook (50-70). In September 2015, Lancashire's 

services for children in need of help and protection, children looked after and care 

leavers were inspected by Ofsted. The report published on the 27 November 2015 

judged children's services to be "inadequate".  It was highlighted that IRO caseloads 

were high and a recommendation was made that the IRO Service undertakes 

consistent, regular oversight of practice and care planning. As part of the Improvement 

Plan there has been further significant investment in the IRO Service, including 15 

additional permanent IROs and 3.5 additional permanent Quality & Review Managers. 

Agency staff have been appointed pending permanent recruitment to these posts. This 

has had a positive impact in reducing IRO caseloads to an average of 92 at the end 

of March 2016 followed by a further reduction to 82 in April 2016. Once fully staffed it 

is anticipated that the average caseload will be below 75. This is a significant 

achievement and will greatly increase IRO capacity. Prior to the recruitment of 

additional IROs high caseloads presented many challenges for the service and 

impacted upon the IROs ability to fulfil many aspects of their role.  This has included 

the completion of mid-point checks, seeing all children separately and in addition to 

their statutory review meetings and tracking of problem resolution issues.  

Performance in relation to child protection conferences held within the requisite 

timescale improved in 2015/16 despite a significant increase in the number of children 

subject to child protection plans. At the end of March 2015, 956 children were subject 

Page 19



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 4 •

to a child protection plan. However, in March 2016 this had increased by 55% to 1,443. 

Performance in relation to children looked after reviews being held in timescale has 

dipped slightly from 95.3% in 2014/15 to 93.9% in 2015/16. When considered in the 

context of the additional workload of the team this still represents good performance. 

The reduction in caseloads since the recruitment of additional IROs to the service has 

led to a significant increase in the completion of mid-point checks. (March 2016: 899 

mid-point checks were completed with only 95% of staff being in post). This is 

strengthening IRO oversight of practice and care planning in line with the Improvement 

Plan.  

There have been elements of success with formal and informal problem resolution.  A 

review of the informal and formal resolution system has taken place and a new 

protocol was implemented on the 01/04/16. This has simplified the process and joins 

both informal and formal resolution within the same process. IRO challenge can now 

be evidenced and tracked using both forms of resolution. Data available covering 

informal resolution indicates that IROs have provided 432 challenges during 

2015/2016. It is acknowledged that the factors that enable IROs to adopt a position of 

positive independent challenge are complex; it has been accepted by the IRO Service 

that the level of challenge needs to be stronger. 

IROs have worked to develop strong positive relationships with children's services and 

quarterly liaison meetings take place in the 3 locality areas to look at themes, good 

practice and deficits.  IROs have highlighted areas of learning and development in 

relation to chronologies, child and family assessments, quality assurance audits of 

S.47 enquiries and case recordings.  IROs have worked alongside CSC to improve 

the completion of social work pre-meeting reports for looked after children review 

meetings and where necessary have used an escalation process to identify when the 

report has not been available prior to the review. This has led to considerable 

improvements in this area.

IROs have also supported improvements in the completion of quality assurance audits 

of S.47 enquiries.

Page 20



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 5 •

2. Recommendations from the IRO Annual Report 2015/16

 Managers of the IRO Service must continue to monitor IRO caseloads and the 

impact on delivery of the IRO responsibilities as detailed in the IRO handbook. 

Update:  Quality and Review managers have monitored IRO caseloads on a monthly 

basis.  The Ofsted inspection identified that caseloads were too high. This has been 

addressed in the Improvement Plan with Management Team approval of an additional 

15 IROs and 3.5 Quality & Review Managers.  The average IRO caseload in April 

2016 was 82 compared with 109 at the end of March 2015.

 To improve the effectiveness and efficiency of the IRO Service, from the 1st 

June 2015, a locality management model will be introduced. This will replace 

the current cross county structure and will align IROs in three teams which 

mirror the locality footprints for Children's Social Care (CSC). To support the 

new arrangements changes will also be made to the arrangements for IRO 

team meetings and development days. 

Update:  The locality model has been implemented which involves IRO locality 

meetings being held on a monthly basis and full service development days taking 

place quarterly.  This is proving to be effective in supporting IRO involvement, 

participation and contribution to service development.

 Managers of the IRO Service will continue to monitor performance in respect of 

the proportion of looked after children reviews and child protection conferences 

held within the required timescales to further improve performance against 

these indicators. 

Update:  Quality & Review Managers have continued to monitor performance in 

respect of looked after children reviews and child protection conferences through IRO 

supervision. Whilst good performance has been maintained in child protection 

conferences reviewed within timescale, it is acknowledged that there has been a slight 

dip in performance in respect of looked after children reviews. This will be a priority for 

improvement in the coming year. 

Page 21



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 6 •

 IROs to undertake robust quality assurance of practice to ensure that statutory 

requirements are met, including children having an up-to-date child & family 

assessment, personal education plan, health assessment and that visits to 

children are undertaken within required timescales. IROs need to make a 

review recommendation where this is not evidenced and escalate if necessary 

to ensure timely completion.    

Update:  There is some evidence of IRO quality assurance of practice within informal 

and formal resolution.  However, the service recognises this is still an area of 

improvement. Alongside a revised Audit Framework, a new IRO quality assurance 

checklist is being introduced which will be embedded in practice in the forthcoming 

months. A supervision audit tool has also been introduced in 2015/2016.

 Additional training is to be provided to the IROs in relation to the problem 

resolution process, thresholds and appropriate timescales for resolution to 

ensure greater consistency of practice across the service.

Update:  Additional training was provided to IROs during a service development day 

and this will continue to be included in future training to support thresholds and 

appropriate timescales for resolution to ensure greater consistency.  This is also a 

standard agenda item for IRO supervision, locality meetings and quarterly liaison 

meetings.

 Evidence of informal resolution of issues by the IRO needs to be captured more 

effectively. 

Update: There is evidence of informal resolution by IROs and changes to the 

children's electronic recording system (LCS) have been introduced to capture this 

data. There is evidence that some children's cases have been escalated from informal 

to formal resolution. Issues have been identified and addressed in a timely manner, 

capturing the impact of IRO involvement.  This has been supported by the 

implementation of a new problem resolution protocol bringing together both informal 

and formal resolution.

 Quality and Review Managers should work more closely with the newly 

centralised case support services for looked after children and safeguarding to 

Page 22



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 7 •

ensure the timely distribution of documentation in respect of looked after 

children reviews and child protection conferences.

Update:  The Centralised administration teams provide a monthly report in relation to 

their performance and deficits in performance are reviewed by senior managers on a 

regular basis. Due to capacity issues within the Minute Taking Service compounded 

by the significant increase in the number of child protection conferences held, there 

are delays in minutes being transcribed. This will continue to be monitored and a 

review will be undertaken of the way in which meetings are minuted to improve 

efficiency. 

 Where an agency that has been identified as part of the core group does not 

attend / submit a report for a child protection conference the IRO should 

escalate this to the appropriate safeguarding lead for that agency.  

Update:  The IRO Service has implemented a standard letter of escalation in relation 

to non-attendance/where a report is not submitted for child protection conferences.  

The Quality & Review Managers will analyse this information as part of their audit 

activity in 2016/17.

 When the core group is being agreed at a child protection conference the IRO 

should ensure that explicit consideration is given to any areas of need that are 

not adequately addressed (particularly parental mental health, substance 

misuse or domestic abuse) within the proposed core group and the child 

protection plan should include actions to address such areas.

Update:  This is addressed by IROs within the conference to ensure appropriate 

membership of core group meetings. IROs also continue to reinforce the requirement 

of agencies to contribute to a final core group report rather than providing individual 

agency reports to review child protection conferences. 

 The Principal Social Worker should consider the development and support 

needs of Social Workers attending child protection conferences and take this 

forward. 

Page 23



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 8 •

Update:  Up-skilling training for practice managers has been provided to ensure social 

workers are equipped and understand their role around decisions to proceed to an 

initial child protection conference.  Back to basics social work training has also 

commenced and will be undertaken throughout 2016/2017.  Child centred and SMART 

plans training is currently underway across children's services.  A 'risk sensible' model 

will also be launched in July 2016 which will improve the quality of child protection 

plans, ensuring a clear focus on the high risk indicators and the changes required to 

reduce the risk to the child. 

Foreword

The IRO Annual Report provides a review of the work and findings of the IRO Service 

during the period from the 1 April 2015 to the 31 March 2016.  The report will consider 

the findings and recommendations made by Ofsted in respect of the IRO Service 

during their inspection of children's services in September 2015. 

A key recommendation for the IRO Service was to "ensure the Independent Reviewing 

Service undertakes consistent regular oversight of practice and care planning in 

children's cases in line with the Care Planning, Placement and Case Review 

Regulations, 2010."   

Ofsted found that IROs do not consistently monitor children's cases to ensure they are 

receiving the services they need and that their plans are progressing as agreed.  The 

authority's performance in achieving permanence for children looked after was found 

to be variable. It was also highlighted that the IRO Service did not collect information 

on how well permanence was being promoted at children's review meetings or through 

wider monitoring by IROs. The report acknowledged that IRO caseloads were too high 

with some IROs holding 130 cases compared with the recommended level of between 

50 - 70. 

At the time of the inspection the service operated with 30 FTE IROs and there were 

three vacant IRO posts due to recruitment difficulties. Ofsted concluded that "Overall 

performance in this service has improved, but is still not meeting the authority's own 

targets and improvements are further hampered by the lack of timely information 

available to IRO managers."

This report will address how the service has responded to the findings of Ofsted and 

Page 24



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 9 •

will highlight areas of good practice, areas of innovation and improvement and sets 

out key elements needed for continuous development.

The report will be presented to the Senior Leadership Team, Start-Well Senior 

Management Team, Corporate Parenting Board and the Lancashire Safeguarding 

Children Board (LSCB).

4. The IRO Service

Lancashire has had an IRO service since 1999.  IROs are responsible for chairing 

children looked after reviews, child protection conferences and a range of specialist 

strategy meetings, including allegations against adults working in regulated activity 

with children, suspected cases of fabricated/induced Illness, child sexual exploitation, 

children missing from care, children looked after who display sexually harmful 

behaviour towards other children and cases of serious self-harm to children who are 

looked after. 

Since January 2016 the IRO Service has undertaken Regulation 44 visits for 

Lancashire's residential establishments for children and young people ensuring 

greater independence within this process. 

4.1 Service Structure

The IRO Service sits within the Safeguarding, Inspection & Audit Service within the 

Start-Well arm of the Operations and Delivery Services of the County Council. It is 

independent of the line management structure of the locality social work teams, 

therefore retaining the independence of the IROs. 

During 2015/2016 the service has increased its IROs by 50% from 30 to 45 FTE posts.  

Forty-four of these posts have responsibility for chairing children looked after reviews, 

child protection conferences and specialist strategy meetings, whilst the remaining 

post reviews the local authority's approved foster carers.  The IRO posts are held by 

47 members of staff and the team have recently appointed to the last two vacancies. 

Eleven of the posts are held by male staff and eight members identify themselves as 

from a BME background.  

The service mirrors the locality footprint of Children's Social Care. There are two IRO 

teams in the Central locality, 3 teams in the East and 1.5 teams in the North. This 

Page 25



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 10 •

helps to strengthen local relationships whilst also improving consistency of practice 

and challenge.  The IROs participate in monthly team meetings and quarterly full 

service development days.  The IRO team structure chart is found at Appendix 1.

4.2 Post Qualifying Experience

All IROs in Lancashire are required to have a minimum of five years post qualifying 

experience.  They have all worked in statutory child care settings and several have 

previous management experience.  A detailed table of the level of post qualifying 

experience and length of service as IRO managers and IROs in Lancashire can be 

found in Appendix 2.

4.3 Staff Recruitment and Retention

Following the agreement to increase the number of IRO posts from 30 to 45 and 

Quality and Review Managers from 3 to 6.5 recruitment has been extremely 

challenging. Agency staff have been appointed pending permanent recruitment. 

During 2015/16 four permanent IROs left the service: one retired, one left to take up 

an IRO post in another local authority and two secured internal promotion to 

managerial positions.   

Lancashire has struggled to attract a good pool of suitably experienced candidates 

when recruiting for Independent Reviewing Officers within the regional 'market 

workforce'. Lancashire's recruitment difficulties are compounded by higher pay rates 

for IROs regionally and in neighboring local authorities. Currently from the structure of 

45 IROs 48% are agency staff. This has been recognised and senior managers within 

the service are looking at a resolution to address this, making Lancashire more 

competitive within the regional market place.    

4.4 Caseloads

The investment of additional IROs has had a significant impact in reducing caseloads 

which have gone down from an average of 109 in March 2015 to 82 in April 2016. 

Once fully staffed it is anticipated that the average will be under 75 which is close to 

the recommended caseload in the IRO Handbook (50 – 70 children for a full-time 

Page 26



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 11 •

equivalent IRO). However, the continued rise in initial child protection conferences and 

the number of children subject to child protection plans has placed additional demands 

on the IRO Service. (Child protection plans: March 2015 – 948, compared to March 

2016: 1,469. This represents a 55% increase). The rate in Lancashire is now at 59 per 

10,000 child population, above the average trends for the region (49.9) and our 

statistical neighbours (48.2) and far above the national average of (42.9).   

The number of children looked after has increased by 3% from 1,626 in March 2015 

to 1,674 in March 2016. Lancashire's rate of children looked after per 10,000 

population (March 2016: 69.1) is lower than the regional rate (March 2014: 81) but is 

higher than our statistical neighbours (March 2014: 61.2) and the national average 

(March 2014: 60). 

Whilst IRO capacity remains a significant challenge the reduction of caseloads is a 

priority for the service and now that IROs (currently agency staff) have been appointed 

to posts there will be a focus over the coming weeks to reduce caseloads below an 

average of 75 to enable IROs to improve the quality of all aspects of their role. 

4.5 Fostering IRO
Foster carers are reviewed by a dedicated Fostering IRO within the IRO Service. 

Whilst the Ofsted inspection found that foster carers are reviewed regularly, some of 

the reviews seen by inspectors lacked detail and rigour. This has been addressed in 

conjunction with the Fostering Service. Attendance at foster carer review meetings 

now includes the foster carer, Social Worker for the carer, Practice Manager and 

Fostering IRO. Reviews are also undertaken in more venues across the county to 

enable foster carers to attend. The review follows a clear and consistent agenda, 

giving consideration to the placements a foster carer has had over the previous year, 

looking at what has been successful but also where there has been areas of difficulty 

or where the foster carer has required additional support. The actions from the foster 

carer's professional development portfolio are also reviewed and the 

recommendations are based on the needs of the foster carer and what is required to 

develop their skills/confidence in fostering. A process is in place to seek the views of 

all children who have been in placement during the review period and views of the 

child's Social Worker for any child in placement and those of birth parents. The process 

Page 27



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 12 •

and agreed timescales ensure that the reviews are completed and shared in a timely 

manner.

Page 28



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 13 •

5. Performance

5.1 Looked After Children

5.1.1 Reviews in Timescale (NI66)

2008/09 95.7% 2010/11 97.8% 2012/13 95% 2014/15 95.3%
90.00%

91.00%

92.00%

93.00%

94.00%

95.00%

96.00%

97.00%

98.00%

99.00%

% per year

CLA Reviews in Timescale (NI66)

Performance has decreased from 95.3% in 2014–15 to 93.9% in 2015 -16. Out of the 

cohort of 1,608 children who had a review during the period, 98 reviews were held 

outside of the required timescale. This was due to a number of factors as follows:

 IRO human error

 Late notification of looked after status by Children's Social Care

 IRO sickness absence 

 Changes in Social Worker

 Transfer of cases to new IROs

When taken as a proportion of the total number of reviews held (3449) performance 

rises to 97.1%.

Note: this data is subject to confirmation once the CIN census has been finalised.

5.1.2 Children Looked After Placed outside of Lancashire

There are a total of 331 children placed outside of the local authority area.  This figure 

Page 29



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 14 •

represents 19.8% of the looked after children population.  

Of this population there are 100 (6%) "truly" distant placements, an increase from 

March 2015 (4.4%).  Truly distant placements are defined as placements "outside of 

the local authority area or one of its neighbouring authorities" (Out of Authority 

Placement of Looked After Children: supplement to The Children Act 1989 Volume 2: 

care planning, placement and case review (England) Regulations 2014).

5.1.3 Placements of Children Looked After

Of the 1674 children looked after by Lancashire County Council:

66.9% are placed within an alternate family setting (1068 with foster carers, 52 

with prospective adopters).   This rate has decreased slightly from 70% in 2014-

15.  

14.7% (247 children) are placed within residential settings (including 

Lancashire's residential settings, external residential settings, residential 

schools, secure units, hospitals and prisons).  

2.6% (43 children) are placed in other community settings such as supported 

accommodation projects, supported tenancies and supported lodgings.   

15.7% (264 children) are placed with their own parent (or someone who has 

parental responsibility for them) either via a Care Order or Interim Care Order.  

This is an increase from 217 home placements in 2014-15. 

5.1.4 Placement Stability

The percentage of children having three or more placements within 2015/16 was 6.7% 

which is comparable with 6.8% in 2014-15.  Performance compares favourably with 

both national (11%) and statistical neighbour (10.5%) averages (March 2014).   

The percentage of children living in the same placement for at least two years was 

66.1% in 2015–16 compared to 69.4% in 2014-15.  However, performance remains in 

line with our statistical neighbours (65.6%) and the national average (67%) (March 

2014).

5.1.5 Achieving Permanence 

Page 30



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 15 •

The legal status of looked after children by Lancashire is as follows: 

Interim Care Order 19.6% Care Order 60.5%
Placement Order 5.8% Section 20 Accomodation 13.4%
Remanded to Local Authority care 0.2% Emergency or Police Protections 0.4%

% of CLA population

The proportion of children subject to Interim Care Orders, Care Orders, Section 20 

Accommodation, Remanded to the Care of the Local Authority and subject to 

Emergency or Police Protection has increased.  However, there has been a decrease 

in the proportion of children subject to Placement Orders compared to 2014/15.  

The IRO Service plays a key role in reviewing care plans for children subject of a 

Placement Order and in ensuring that timely action is taken to secure permanence for 

this group of children.  Performance in this area can be summarised as below: 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Number of Placement Orders 219 222 97

Placed with adopters 64 92 52

Not yet placed with adopters 155 130 45

The figures demonstrate that fewer children have become subject of Placement 

Orders in 2015/16.  This could be attributed to the increase in the use of alternative 

family placements under other orders such as Special Guardianship or Child 

Arrangement Orders.  

5.1.6 Participation

Page 31



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 16 •

Performance in relation to participation has increased over the last 12 months; the 

majority of looked after children in Lancashire either attend or contribute to their 

review.  In 2014/15 the participation of children looked after was 92.5%. This has 

increased to 95.9% during 2015-16.  Out of the cohort of 1608 children only 66 did not 

participate or contribute to their review.  When considered as a proportion of the total 

reviews held (3449) performance rises to 98%.

The IRO Service continues to have excellent links with the Corporate Parenting Board 

and has a named IRO representative at every meeting. The IRO is able to follow up 

any issues raised by the Board or the young people in attendance and provides 

feedback to the service on relevant issues.  

Linx (Lancashire's Children in Care Council) is invited to attend IRO team development 

days annually to promote a better understanding from a young person's perspective 

of how IROs can more effectively engage with children looked after.

Note: this data is subject to confirmation once the CIN census has been finalised.

5.1.7 Health Assessments

There has been a significant improvement in the proportion of children looked after 

with an up-to-date health assessment which has risen from 86.5% in March 2015 to 

94.4% in March 2016. This can be attributed to the collaborative work undertaken by 

CSC and Health colleagues. Performance is favourable compared with statistical 

neighbours (87%), national (88.3%) and regional (90.8%) rates (March 2014). 

5.1.8 Personal Education Plans

Significant progress has been made in relation to the proportion of children looked 

after with a Personal Education Plan (PEP). In March 2016 this was 99.8%. 

5.2. Performance related to Safeguarding

5.2.1 Child Protection Plans Reviewed in Timescale (NI67)

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Lancashire 100% 98.90% 96.5% 94.3% 95.8% 98.9%

Page 32



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 17 •

SN's 96.4 98% 97.4% 96.8% 96.3% N/A

North West 95.2% 95.7% 91.7% 96.1% 94.00% N/A

England 97.1% 96.7% 96.2% 94.6% 94.00% N/A

There has been an increase in performance in respect of review child protection 

conferences held within timescale from 95.8% in 2014–15 to 98.9% in 2015–16. 

Performance is 4.9% above the national average of 94% for 2013/14 and is also above 

that of regional and statistical neighbours (2013/14 data). In respect of individual 

children and young people, this performance means that 11 children did not have a 

review child protection conference within the required timescale. This equates to 8 

meetings as 3 of the conferences considered siblings within the same meeting. 

The reasons for conferences being held outside of the statutory timescale include: 

changes in dates to accommodate family attendance, capacity issues of the 

IRO/Social Worker when rearranging an adjourned meeting and staff sickness.  The 

increase in performance can be attributed mainly to: the increased capacity within the 

service but also that the Quality and Review Managers have been closely monitoring 

timescales and continually improving performance through IRO supervision and 

locality meetings. It is anticipated that, with a reduction in IRO caseloads and an 

increase in management capacity, the service will continue to achieve good 

performance in this area and so contribute to safeguarding children appropriately. 

5.2.2 Percentage of children ceasing to be the subject of a Child Protection Plan 
during the 12 month period who had been subject of a Child Protection Plan for 
2 years or more  (NI64)

 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Lancashire 4.8% 4.4% 2.6% 3.7% 3.0% 3.7%

SN's 7.5% 6.0% 5.2% 4.5% 4.9% N/A
England    
National Average 6.0% 5.6% 4.3% 4.5% 3.7% N/A

The table illustrates a slight drop in performance in relation to the duration of child 

protection plans. (2014/15: 3.0% compared to 2015/16: 3.7%). This equates to 44 

children.  Performance is in line with the national average in 2014/15 and continues to 

Page 33



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 18 •

be above that of our Statistical Neighbour averages of 4.9%. This illustrates that there 

is effective monitoring of child protection plans by IROs and managers within 

Children's Social Care, ensuring appropriate outcomes for children, either through a 

step-down with continuing support as a child in need or escalation to care proceedings. 

Strengthening IRO oversight of practice will ensure tighter monitoring of children's 

cases and prevention of drift. The implementation of the risk sensible model will also 

ensure tighter and more focused child protection plans which set out clear 

expectations for parents in relation to the changes required. 

In order to improve performance the Quality and Review Managers will provide 

targeted training to newly appointed IROs to ensure they understand their role in 

monitoring children subject to child protection plans and  all child protection plans over 

two year's duration will continue to be reviewed individually within IRO supervision.  

Child protection plans over twelve month's duration are also subject to review by the 

IRO and Team Manager and are monitored within IRO supervision.  

5.2.3 Percentage of Children who become subject of a Child Protection Plan at 
any time during the year who had previously been subject of a Child Protection 
Plan regardless of how long ago (NI65)

 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Lancashire 13.7% 10.8% 12.3% 12.6% 13.9% 17.9%

SN's 12.5% 15.6% 15.2% 16.1% 18.1% N/A
England    
National Average 13.3% 13.8% 14.9% 15.8% 16.6% N/A

During 2015/16, 303 children subject to a child protection plan had previously (at any 

time) been subject to a child protection plan. This represents a 29% increase 

compared to 2014/15 but is slightly below that of our statistical neighbours, but is 

higher than the national average performance of 16.6% in 2014/15. The increase in 

the number of repeat child protection plans may be attributable to a number of factors:

 An increase in the number of children entering the child protection system. This 

is reflected in a rise in the number of S47 enquiries undertaken which has 

increased from a rate of 13.5 per 10,000 population (March 2015) to 17.9 per 

10,000 population (March 2016). There has been a corresponding rise in the 

Page 34



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 19 •

number of children subject to a child protection plan which increased from 956 

or a rate of 39.2 per 10,000 population (March 2015) to 1443 or a rate of 59.0 

per 10,000 population (March 2016). This increase is particularly notable since 

the Ofsted inspection in September 2015 when the number of children subject 

to a child protection plan was 1064 (rate per 10,000 population: 43.5).  This 

may be due to a heightened awareness of agency safeguarding responsibilities 

and the identification of children at risk of significant harm. This may include 

children previously subject to a child protection plan.  

 The audit and reassessment of child in need cases following the Ofsted 

inspection in September 2015. In some cases this resulted in an escalation to 

child protection.

 Children subject to a child protection plan moving across local authority 

boundaries. A child moving back into Lancashire whilst still subject to a child 

protection plan will be classed as a repeat child protection plan. 

 The child protection plan being ceased prematurely or a change in the family's 

circumstances meaning that a child became subject to a repeat child protection 

plan due to an unrelated safeguarding concern.  

As identified above a number of factors may impact on performance against this 

indicator. A sample audit will be undertaken to support a further analysis of practice. 

Quality and Review Managers will provide more robust quality assurance of decision 

making where the child protection plan has been ceased at the first review child 

protection conference. IROs will also be trained in the risk sensible model ensuring 

consistency of practice in respect of the identification of high risk indicators and the 

role of the conference in reviewing the child protection plan.  

5.2.4 Percentage of Children who become subject of a Child Protection Plan at 
any time during the year who had previously been subject of a Child Protection 
Plan within the last 12 months

Perhaps a more meaningful indication of how effectively risk is being managed is to 

consider the proportion of children made subject to a child protection plan for a second 

or subsequent time within twelve months of the previous plan being ceased. Although 

there has been a slight drop in performance against this indicator from 5.1% in 2014/15 

Page 35



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 20 •

to 5.9% in 2015/16 this still represents good performance. 

6.  Quality Assurance

The IRO Service is committed to improving the quality of services and undertakes a 

range of quality assurance work to achieve best outcomes for the children and families 

they work with. This enables IROs to identify interventions that are effective and 

highlight good practice as well as areas where practice does not meet the required 

standard.  

The IRO Service undertakes a variety of quality assurance activities for children looked 

after and children in need of protection, including case file audits and the quality 

assurance of S47 enquiries where a child has suffered significant harm but a decision 

is made not to hold an initial child protection conference.  

Since the inspection by Ofsted there has been a strong focus on the requirement for 

IROs to undertake mid-point checks in between review meetings to ensure more 

robust monitoring of the child's care plan. This has been effective in evidencing the 

IRO foot-print and challenge by IROs in relation to care planning issues. Positively this 

was recognised by Ofsted during a recent monitoring visit. 

Quality assurance is also undertaken of the performance of the IRO Service by 

managers undertaking shadowing of IROs to observe their practice, supervision and 

audits. 

6.1  IRO Feedback in Relation to Quality of Practice 

The issues highlighted by IROs and Quality & Review Managers in supervision and 

locality meetings are as follows: 

 The sharing of child protection conference Social Work reports with parents in a 

timely manner prior to conference.  This has been highlighted as a concern with 

CSC in the Locality/IRO liaison meetings and has been included in the CSC weekly 

brief to promote best practice.  

 The lack of chronologies at initial child protection conferences and how this impacts 

on the quality and outcome of the decision making and the implications for 

safeguarding children. Given the increased capacity within the service IROs are 

Page 36



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 21 •

undertaking more robust preparation prior to the conference with a focus on 

ensuring chronologies are included within the report. 

 Social work reports are not always completed and shared prior to looked after 

children review meetings which results in the longer duration of meetings. The child 

where age appropriate should have sight of the report to support their participation 

in the meeting and the service has a clear escalation process by IROs prior to the 

review. This has been one of the main areas for IROs entering into in-formal 

resolution during 2014-2015 and has resulted in an improvement over recent 

months.

 The standard of child protection conference requests. The number of conference 

requests that are being challenged by IROs and Quality and Review Managers has 

increased in recent months.  The evidence to demonstrate how threshold has been 

met to move into the child protection arena at times is unclear. This requires greater 

oversight by Quality & Review Managers to ensure that requests for a conference 

are appropriate.    

 In April 2015 Children's Social Care (CSC) changed its model of working to generic 

social work and this appears to have impacted on the quality of practice, in some 

cases causing drift and delay in the progression of care plans and child protection 

plans.  Staff turnover and a high number of inexperienced staff within CSC have 

also been highlighted as contributory factors affecting the quality of practice. Re-

modelling of services within CSC has taken place with a move to specialist teams 

for safeguarding and assessment, children in our care, children in need hubs and 

professional personal advisor teams. This will improve practice and achieve better 

outcomes for children and young people. IROs are aware of the need to ensure 

timely progression of care plans through the use of mid-point checks and problem 

resolution. 

 Concerns in respect of the quality of Pathway Plans and practitioners not fully 

understanding the local authority's responsibilities towards young people preparing 

for and leaving local authority care. This is a priority within the Improvement Plan 

and training has been commissioned for Social Workers and managers on support 

for care leavers and their entitlements. The creation of specialist teams including 

the development of professional personal advisor hubs will also support 

Page 37



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 22 •

improvements in practice. 

 Requests for initial child protection conferences (ICPCs) are not always being 

received in a timely manner resulting in a number of ICPC's not being held within 

the statutory timescale. A contributing factor to this is likely to be the 55% increase 

in ICPCs held. (March 2015: 956 compared to 1,443 in March 2016). This has been 

addressed via the CSC weekly brief and has been discussed with Team Managers 

in the quarterly IRO/Locality liaison meetings.  IROs have also delivered briefings 

as part of CSC development days to ensure there is a clear understanding of the 

process and importance of ICPC's being held within statutory timescales.

 In a small number of children's cases there has been inconsistency in the 

application of thresholds, such as where children are living in the same household 

and one child is the subject of a Care Order and a sibling is the subject of a child 

in need plan where safeguarding concerns have been identified. This learning from 

this has been shared at an IRO development day and with Children's Social Care 

to promote consistency of practice.  

 The quality of child protection plans and care plans for children looked after has 

been highlighted as an error of concern. This includes timescales, who is 

responsible for actions and contingency planning. Training is being provided to 

Social Worker's and has already been delivered to IROs. IROs will also be trained 

in the risk sensible model and they will have a key role in quality assuring child 

protection plans to ensure they are SMART and address the high risk indicators 

identified in the assessment. The quality of plans will be monitored via case file 

audits and the Audit Framework has recently been revised and relaunched. 

 IROs have acknowledged the enthusiasm and commitment within CSC and their 

passion to improve services for children and families.  

 IROs have seen evidence of positive outcomes for children and timely progression 

to secure permanence through the use of contingency fostering placements which 

have been effective in avoiding the need for changes of placement. 

 There is good evidence of Social Worker's gaining and recording children and 

young people's views, wishes and feelings and children feeling listened to as a 

result. 

Page 38



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 23 •

6.2 Case File Audits

The completion of case file audits by IROs continues to be an integral part of their 

quality assurance role.  The IRO Service completed 88% of all case file audits 

allocated during April 2015–October 2015, despite very high caseloads. From October 

2015 Quality & Review Managers were involved in the auditing of child in need cases 

and Section 47 enquiries that hadn't progressed to an initial child protection 

conference when the concerns were substantiated. 

Following feedback from the Ofsted Inspection in September 2015 the Audit 

Framework has been updated and relaunched. The audit tool has now been revised 

and training is being delivered. This will be implemented from the 1 June 2016.  All 

managers within the service will be required to complete 1 case file audit per month 

whilst 10 audits per month will be undertaken by IROs. The audit will consider 

compliance issues but will have a greater emphasis on qualitative analysis.

6.3 IRO Quality Assurance of S.47 Enquiries

IROs undertake the quality assurance of S.47 enquiries where a child has suffered 

significant harm and the decision has been made not to hold an initial child protection 

conference.  The aim of this audit is to ensure that all children who may be at 

continuing risk of significant harm are considered at a child protection conference.  If 

there is disagreement about the decision made not to proceed with a child protection 

conference, the problem resolution process is used.  

Historically a limited number of S.47 enquiries have been shared with IROs for them 

to quality assure. In recent months this has increased but there is still a short-fall in 

the number of requests received. In March 2016 there were 76 S.47 enquiries which 

were substantiated but did not progress to a conference. However, the IRO Service 

only received 37 of these to quality assure. 

This is recognised as an area for improvement. The importance of S.47 enquiry audits 

has been highlighted in IRO team briefs, the CSC weekly brief and through discussion 

at the IRO/Locality quarterly liaison meetings.   In order to monitor this more closely, 

new systems are being considered, such as S. 47 enquiries requiring review being 

sent to the Quality and Review Managers' duty box prior to distribution to IROs.  In this 

Page 39



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 24 •

way any differences between the total numbers received requiring an audit and the 

actual number completed by IROs can be monitored and addressed.

6.4 Themes arising from Practice Observations
The following findings are from practice observations undertaken by Quality & Review 

Managers within the Safeguarding, Inspection & Audit Service in relation to looked 

after children reviews and child protection conferences:

6.4.1 Strengths:

 IROs have a good understanding of the child's case.

 IROs have a wealth of knowledge and experience in relation to safeguarding 

and children looked after.

 Meetings are well managed, in terms of securing good participation and 

managing conflict. 

 IROs meet with parents prior to child protection conferences and support their 

participation in the meeting.

 There is a clear focus on the child and the progress being made in both child 

protection conferences and children looked after reviews. 

 IROs recognise the importance of children participating in their review and 

endeavour to achieve this through good preparation. More recently this has 

included checks to ensure that the child has been prepared for the review and 

that the IRO has seen the child prior to the meeting and they were clear as to 

their wishes and feelings and participation preference. 

 Previous review recommendations were checked and the care plan reviewed.

 Good engagement of parents by the IRO. 

 IROs are challenging non-attendance by individual agencies at child protection 

conferences by contacting them and reminding them of their responsibilities for 

safeguarding children under "Working Together".

 Since the relaunch of the Problem Resolution Protocol in March 2016 there is  

good evidence of the effective use of informal and formal resolution. 

6.4.2 Areas for Development:

 Develop IRO confidence and ability to appropriately and consistently challenge 

Page 40



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 25 •

and evidence the IRO footprint within the child's case record.

 IROs to ensure that chronologies are available for all child protection 

conferences

 Ensure mid-point checks are completed on all children's cases.

 IROs to ensure all children have an up to date Child & Family Assessment that 

provides an analysis of risk and informs outcomes and decision making.

 Plans for children to be specific, measurable, achievable, and realistic and to 

have clear timescales. 

 Ensure that thresholds are in line with the revised Continuum of Need and risk 

sensible model and that both are embedded within the IRO Service.  

 Embed the File Audit Framework within the service and ensure that audits 

completed are of a good standard and that actions arising from audits are 

completed in a timely manner.  

 Ensure robust challenge by IROs at the child's second looked after children 

review where there isn't a clear plan for permanence.

6.5 Audit of Multi-Agency Attendance at Child Protection Conferences

On average 230 child protection conferences are held each month.  The IRO and 

Minute Taking Service captures data in respect of attendance by agencies, parents 

and children and young people at initial and review child protection conferences.  

6.5.1 Key Themes: 

After Children's Social Care, Education (schools and early years) are the most 

consistent attenders at both initial and review conferences (90%), with Health Visitors 

and School Nurses also being consistent attenders (88%).  

Attendance by non-statutory agencies continues to be low with only 32% of 

conferences having staff from this sector. The low attendance of non-statutory 

agencies highlights a risk that all relevant information regarding the welfare of children 

may not be available for the conference.   

To strengthen practice in relation to the participation of children and young people it is 

important that their voice is heard in the process of decisions being made about their 

lives. From April 2015 – March 2016, 5167 children were the subject of either an Initial 

or review child protection conference. Out of this number 677 children (13%) attended 

Page 41



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 26 •

the conference and gave their views either themselves or through an advocate.  

Furthermore, 1653 (32%) children who did not attend the conference, did express their 

views through facilitative means, for example via a Social Worker/Support Worker or 

parent. Improving the participation of children in child protection conferences remains 

a priority. The strengthening family's model may assist in this process.

There was very limited attendance at conference from substance misuse services 

(17%) and Probation/YOT (29%) of all conferences.  The attendance of adult and child 

mental health services was also extremely low with only 86 professionals attending a 

possible 2762 meetings.  

A more detailed audit will be undertaken of multi-agency attendance at child protection 

conferences across Lancashire over a two week period to gain a better understanding 

of multi-agency attendance and participation in child protection conferences. 

6.6 Themes arising from Parent/Carer Questionnaires

Parents and carers of children subject to a child protection conference are encouraged 

to complete a questionnaire following the meeting to gain a better understanding of 

their experience of Lancashire's child protection processes. 

During 2015/2016 there was sixty-nine questionnaires received which is extremely low 

and represents a 30% decrease when compared to 2014/2015 when 99 

questionnaires were completed. This equates to 5.3% of questionnaires returned from 

the total number of initial or review child protection conferences. 

From the returns 30 related to initial child protection conferences (ICPCs) and 36 

related to review child protection conferences (RCPCs) with only 3 questionnaires 

relating to looked after children reviews. A review of this process will be undertaken 

and consideration given to other mechanisms by which the views of parents/carers 

can be sought. 

6.6.1 Parent/Carer Feedback from Initial Child Protection Conferences

Of the questionnaires returned from the ICPCs, 18 (60%) indicated they had seen the 

Social Worker's report 24 hrs before the conference.  Two participants chose to make 

an additional comment that they had seen the report either the evening before or the 

morning of the conference, but were content with this.

Page 42



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 27 •

Generally, participant feedback was positive.  On 17 of the 18 questionnaires (94%), 

the participants reported that, having had sight of the Social Worker's  report in 

advance, they were well prepared for the conference, the IRO had provided help and 

support and had chaired the meeting appropriately.

In 16 of the 18 (88%) questionnaires returned, participants also noted that they had 

met with the IRO prior to the meeting and had found this to be helpful.

94% of participants reported that they had come away from the conference with a 

good understanding of the local authority's concerns about their child(ren) and the 

Child Protection Plan.

In many cases, individual participants had made reflective and thoughtful comments 

about their experience of the conference, for example:

"Yes, I fully understand the concerns....I welcome the support"

"It was fully explained and I agree with what was said things don't always go 

well, but only because of my pride"

"I understand the plan and what will happen next" 

"We are going to work very hard as we want the best for our child so we will do 

what it takes"

As previously noted, there were 12 questionnaires (40%) returned from ICPC where 

the participant had not received the Social Worker's report until the morning of the 

meeting.  They found this unacceptable and went on to report further dissatisfaction 

with the conference as a whole. 

For this group, it would seem that from the outset, they felt disadvantaged by the lack 

of preparation afforded them and were not able to regain sufficient confidence to be 

positive or accepting of the issues under scrutiny. As a result, their experience of the 

conference was 'negative' and they came away without a clear understanding of the 

plan to safeguard their child.

Some examples of this are as follows:

"Was not prepared and only received what allegations have been made on the 

Page 43



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 28 •

day of the meeting".

"No help or support, was not aware of anything in the meeting, wasn’t even 

aware there would be other professionals there".

"Given report 5 minutes before conference" 

"I felt victimised as I wasn’t given an opportunity to have my opinions heard. It 

was all very one sided"

"I had been kept in the dark"…Didn’t expect it to be as brutal as it was"

6.6.2 Parent/Carer Feedback from Review Child Protection Conferences

There were 36 questionnaires returned for RCPCs;  of these, 20 (55%) of participants 

reported that they had seen the Social Worker's report at least 24 hours before the 

review. 17 (47%) of the participants indicated that they had seen the reports of other 

professionals prior to the review. This represents a small increase from the 2014/2015 

figures.

A very high proportion 97% (all but one of the participants) reported that they were 

invited to core group meetings. Indeed, this is an increase on the previous year and 

continues to indicate that once a Child Protection Plan has commenced, a large 

proportion of participants are invited to core groups. 

With regards to the conduct of the meeting itself, 27 (75%) of the participants reported 

that the review conference was well conducted and chaired by the IRO.  Of these, 

most participants made additional comments that they felt comfortable and that they 

understood the issues and the process. 

In terms of the Child Protection Plan and an understanding of the concerns of the local 

authority, 30 of the 36 participants (86 %) reported that they came away with a good 

understanding of the issues of concern and the Child Protection Plan.

6.6.3 Analysis of Feedback

Despite this low return, the responses would seem to indicate the following:

 All conference participants would like to have sight of the Social Workers report 

Page 44



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 29 •

and the other professionals' reports at least prior to the start of the conference 

and preferably, the day before. 

 Those participants who did see the Social Worker's report prior to the meeting 

stated that they felt better prepared for the conference and their experience of 

it was generally more positive.

 Those participants who did not see any reports felt disadvantaged and found 

their experience of the conference to be negative.

 Although the number of Social Worker's reports seen before the conference 

stands at 60%, there is still much room for improvement.

 Overall, the majority of participants who returned the questionnaire reported 

that the conference had been well managed by the IRO. 

 In turn, this appears to have the helped the participants to come away from the 

conference with a good understanding of the issues and the Child Protection 

Plan itself.

7.  Good Practice & Problem Resolution

The following are examples of the positive impact that IROs have had in improving 

situations for children and young people who are looked after by the local authority.

Example 1

A young person wrote a letter to an IRO who was leaving the service expressing her 

appreciation for the support she had been given.  She said:

"When I found out you were leaving I had to hold back my tears. I just can't 

imagine my meetings without you in them. You have done so much for me and 

for that I am forever grateful." 

Another IRO was able to support a young person's participation in their review by 

personalising her review agenda through the inclusion of photographs of her before 

the agenda items.

Example 2

During the IROs discussion with the parents prior to the child protection conference 

Page 45



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 30 •

they became aware that they were not prepared for the meeting. The mother lacked 

understanding of what was happening or the severity of the situation and the family 

had not received support identified as necessary in the pre-birth assessment. The IRO 

adjourned the conference to allow this work to be undertaken.

At the reconvened conference the family had legal representation to support them and 

had a better understanding of the issues and the process. The IRO was open with 

both parents about their learning needs and their possible impact.  The IRO made sure 

that the language used in conference was conducive to their understanding and that 

they were fully involved.

The outcome of conference was a child protection plan, but parents were able to see 

this as supportive and articulated their willingness to work with it. They were positively 

engaged with the process.

Example 3

There were a number of concerns raised about a family, that constituted neglect, but 

the legal department had indicated that the threshold for proceedings was not met.

The child had a diagnosis of diabetes and the parents were not managing this 

condition.  Health professionals regarded this as potentially life threatening due to the 

child's young age.  Home conditions were poor and parental control of the older child 

was limited. Mother had been diagnosed with depression and father was aggressive.

Following further consultation with the legal department by the social worker, with the 

support of the IRO, an Interim Care Order was applied for and granted.

7.1 Problem Resolution Processes

7.1.1 Use of the Problem Resolution Process for Looked After Children 

In 2015/16 51 starred recommendations were made compared to 50 in the preceding 

year. The breakdown by locality is as follows: East Locality: 28, North Locality: 17 and 

Central Locality: 3. Over the last twelve months the largest increase has been seen in 

the North (2014/15: 6). There has been a reduction in Central Locality. (2014/15: 17) 

and the East Locality has remained at a similar level (2014/15: 27).  

Page 46



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 31 •

The majority of starred recommendations were resolved at Stage Two in all three 

localities.  In the East four were escalated to stage three and two of these escalated 

to Stage 4 prior to resolution. The need for escalation was mainly due to delays in 

response from relevant managers. No starred recommendations escalated to Stage 5 

over this review period.  

Starred recommendations have frequently focused on compliance issues. A common 

theme in the East and North relates to case recording not being up to date on the LCS 

electronic children's social care recording system and there being considerable delay 

in the completion of the social work pre-meeting report. This issue does not seem to 

have arisen in the Central Locality which may account for the low number of starred 

recommendations made in that area. 

7.1.2 Themes from Starred Recommendations:

 Delay in the application to revoke the Care Order.

 Delay in application for an Interim Care Order.

 Statutory visits not taking place within required timescales.

 IRO requesting a placement freeze due to concerns about a proposed 

placement move or the IRO requesting additional information to consider a 

proposed placement move or change of care plan.

 Direct work not completed with a child.

 Delay in following up actions to progress the care plan for the child.

 Child sporadically receiving education and requiring a school placement.

 Child needing placement nearer to family members.

 Delay in identifying a school placement.

 Provision of Personal Education Plan Support Allowance (PEPSA) funding for 

equipment to support a young person complete their homework.

 Funding for a school trip and to participate in the Duke of Edinburgh award 

scheme.

 No pathway plan.

 No missing from home meeting held - stage three meeting requested.

 CLA review recommendations not completed.

 CLA paperwork not completed on LCS.

 

Page 47



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 32 •

7.1.3 Use of the Problem Resolution Process for Children Subject to Child 
Protection Plans

Very few starred recommendations have been made in relation to children subject to 

child protection plans: Central Locality: 2, East Locality: 1 and in the North Locality no 

starred recommendations have been made. 

The East case related to concerns that the children were not safeguarded within the 

child protection plan; further actions were identified and timescales met. The Central 

starred recommendations related to concerns about a delay in multi-agency 

information sharing and lack of risk assessment undertaken.  In the second case there 

was no social work report and a lack of police information to fully review and consider 

the existing child protection plan.   All three recommendations have been addressed 

and are closed.

7.1.4 Analysis of Findings

In all cases the issues raised by the IRO were accepted by managers.  In most cases 

prompt resolution followed, with improvements over this review period being seen in 

required actions being completed within agreed timescales. This is reflected in the 

small number of cases that were escalated to stage three and four compared with the 

previous year and none have thus far been escalated to stage five for resolution. A 

few have remained open for a longer time period to enable the IRO to track the 

completion of missing CLA reports to ensure the system is fully updated. The starred 

recommendations issued have successfully addressed outstanding pre-meeting 

social work reports ensuring that the case record (LCS) was brought up to date.

The responsibility for ensuring starred recommendations are progressed in a timely 

manner sits with the IRO and their manager. There is evidence of the IRO Managers 

tracking and having involvement in moving forward starred recommendations.  It is 

important to ensure the escalation process is instigated at an early stage to avoid drift. 

There are variations across the localities in the number of starred recommendations 

made.  A possible explanation for this is differences in IRO practice and lack of 

consistency in their application of the problem resolution protocol. There are members 

of the team that have not issued any starred recommendations with some IROs issuing 

several. There is a need to consider the informal resolution process, research supports 

Page 48



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 33 •

that IROs prefer to try and resolve issues informally in the first instance. Data supports 

that the East and Central are comparable regarding the use of informal resolution, with 

the North being less. However, there are fewer IROs in the North which may account 

for this. 

Informal resolution is recorded by the IRO using LCS case notes. During the period 

from the 1/04/15 to the 31/03/16, 432 case notes were recorded on children's records 

regarding informal resolution by the IRO. In some cases children have multiple case 

notes recording informal resolution. Further analysis is required to consider practice 

themes and to evidence the impact of informal resolution in achieving better outcomes 

for the child.  

The following case examples illustrate how starred recommendations have achieved 

positive outcomes for children and young people.

Case Example 1:

The IRO, when completing a mid-way check had identified delay in a recommendation 

that the long term care plan was presented to the Permanence Panel.  A timescale of 

two months had been agreed for preparation and planning.  The impact on the young 

person of this drift was highlighted and it was recognised that this had prevented her 

benefitting from the security and re-assurance that ratification of her care plan would 

have provided.

Case Example 2:

The IRO identified, within a CLA Review that a child was to leave their placement.  The 

IRO requested a "freeze" on this proposed move due to the lack of a full risk 

assessment.  The young person wished to remain in the placement and to be able to 

finish their schooling there.  The outcome was that it was considered to be in the young 

person's best interests to remain in the same placement.

Case Example 3:

The IRO adjourned a review child protection conference due to the social work report 

not being completed.  Neither the allocated Social Worker nor their manager were 

available to attend and another Social Worker attended the conference.  No update 

was available from the police regarding their investigation.  The outcome was the 

Page 49



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 34 •

Police Officer was invited to attend the review conference where an update was 

provided regarding the police investigation.  The social Work report and core group 

meetings were completed and the report shared with family members.

7.1.5 Review of Informal and Formal Resolution Protocol

A review of the informal and formal resolution protocol took place in February 2016 so 

that timescales could be standardised and accurate information about the challenges 

made by IROs could be collated. This brought together formal and informal resolution 

processes. Criteria for the use of informal/formal resolution processes has also been 

developed to ensure greater consistency of practice within the IRO Service. The 

revised protocol was implemented on the 1 April 2016. 

The new criteria list and forms have been well received by CSC managers. The 

protocol will be reviewed after three months. This will include consideration of themes, 

whether all IROs are fulfilling their responsibilities in the use of the protocol and 

evaluating the impact of the IRO role in achieving better outcomes for children and 

young people. 

7.1.6 Aims of the New Protocol:

 Ensure the IRO Service undertakes regular consistent oversight of practice and 

care planning in children's cases.

 Evidence the impact and difference IRO involvement has made to children's 

lives and outcomes.

 To highlight practice themes – support effective ways of organisational learning 

from individual cases.

 To ensure that children receive a good quality service and that their needs are 

met.

8.  Challenges

8.1 Workforce Development

Positively, there has been significant investment in the IRO Service since November 

2015, with an additional 15 IROs and 3.5 Quality & Review Managers. However, as 

detailed in Section 4.3 of this report, there have been difficulties recruiting to IRO posts 

Page 50



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 35 •

on a permanent basis resulting in the use of agency staff. The challenge going forward 

is two-fold: to recruit permanent staff to posts and to ensure that the service provides 

a consistent, effective and quality service. To improve staff recruitment and retention, 

the service is looking at ways in which to make Lancashire's IRO Service more 

competitive in the regional 'market workforce'. Lancashire Children's Services are also 

hosting a recruitment event on the 15 June 2016 which includes vacancies within the 

IRO Service.

8.2 Implementation of Revised Problem Resolution Protocol

The Problem Resolution Protocol has been updated and became operational on the 

1st April 2016. Its successful implementation will be crucial in evidencing that IROs 

are undertaking consistent, regular oversight of practice.  A review is planned after 

three months and there will be oversight by Quality & Review Managers in tracking 

and monitoring cases through IRO supervision and at IRO/Locality Meetings to 

support all team members' involvement and commitment.

8.3 Quality Assurance of Practice

IROs play an important role in the quality assurance of practice as highlighted by 

Ofsted in their recent inspection of children's services. Considerable work has been 

undertaken within the service to strengthen this function and to ensure the IRO 

footprint is visible within children's case records. Feedback from Ofsted in a recent 

monitoring visit confirmed that there was regular IRO input on the cases audited which 

was having a positive impact in checking progress of care plans to prevent drift. In 

terms of next steps there needs to be a greater focus by IROs on the quality of practice. 

Lancashire's Audit Framework has been updated and was launched on the 13 May 

2016. Quality & Review Managers will be expected to complete one audit each per 

month and the IROs as a group 10 per month. A programme of monthly and quarterly 

reporting will provide feedback on the quality of practice using the Ofsted grading 

judgements. Quality and Review Managers will also attend the three monthly Locality 

Practice Improvement Meetings where performance is reviewed to provide feedback 

from the IRO Service on performance and the quality of practice.   

A challenge for the IRO Service is to ensure that audits are of a consistent high quality 

and clearly identify strengths as well as areas where practice needs to improve. 

Page 51



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 36 •

Training is being delivered to all staff undertaking audits.  

8.4 Improving the Quality of Plans

Feedback from Ofsted and our own audits has highlighted the need to improve the 

quality of child protection plans, care plans and pathway plans. In particular plans need 

to be outcome focused and include clear timescales. As the person reviewing the plan 

the IRO needs to undertake robust quality assurance to ensure the plan addresses 

the child/young person's needs, is SMART and is progressed in a timely manner. IROs 

will be trained in the risk sensible model and will play a key role in its implementation. 

9. Priorities for 2016-17

The following priorities have been identified for the IRO Service in 2016/17: 

 Recruit appropriately skilled and experienced staff on a permanent basis to all 

IRO and Quality & Review Manager vacancies. 

 Deliver targeted training to newly appointed staff to ensure they understand 

their quality assurance and challenge role related to both safeguarding and 

looked after children. Ensure there is evidence of the IRO foot print in the child's 

case record and that the impact of the IRO in improving outcomes for the child 

is clearly visible. 

 Quality & Review Managers to ensure caseloads are equitable across the IRO 

Service.

 IROs to undertake robust quality assurance of practice to ensure there is a 

chronology, up to date child & family assessment that provides an analysis of 

risk and that plans are specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and have 

clear timescales.  

 IRO footprint to be visible on all children's case records including evidence of 

challenge and impact of IRO involvement.  This will include mid-point checks in 

relation to case progression on all cases, the IRO seeing children in between 

their review meetings to ascertain their wishes and feelings and the use of 

informal/formal resolution processes. 

Page 52



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 37 •

 Enhancement to be made to LCS to improve the quality of recording of mid-

point checks and to ensure a consistent approach.   

 Embed the revised Problem Resolution Protocol in practice. Quality and 

Review Managers must be proactive in tracking the resolution of informal and 

formal resolution in a timely manner. Analysis to be undertaken of practice 

themes to support effective organisational learning through IRO/Locality 

Meetings. 

 Develop IRO practice standards to ensure consistency within the service.  

 Quality & Review Managers to monitor the performance of the IRO Service, 

including reviews held within the required timescale, permanence achieved at 

the second CLA review, the completion of mid-point checks, IRO quality 

assurance of S.47 enquiries and the use of informal/formal resolution 

processes to further improve performance in these areas.

 Embed the Audit Framework within the IRO Service and ensure audits are of a 

consistently high standard to promote learning. 

 Quality & Review Managers to audit cases where the child protection plan has 

been ceased at the first review child protection conference. Sample audit to be 

undertaken of repeat child protection plans to quality assure decision making.  

 Review the system for the quality assurance of S.47 enquiries by IROs to 

ensure performance in this area is consistent and monitored more closely.  

 IROs to gather evidence of permanence achieved for children looked after at 

their second (four month) review and ensure this is recorded within the IRO 

outcome report. 

 Quality & Review Managers to review and plan audit activity for the service in 

the forthcoming year.  This will include attendance at core group meetings, 

multi-agency attendance and participation at child protection conferences and 

child protection plans ceased at the first review conference.

 Quality & Review Managers to review the mechanisms used for seeking 

feedback in relation to the views of children, families and professionals in 

Page 53



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 38 •

respect of the IRO Service and quality of practice.  

 Quality & Review Managers to ensure a consistent approach across the IRO 

Service in the completion of Regulation 44 visits of Lancashire's in-house 

residential children's homes.

10. Conclusion

This report covers a period of significant change for the IRO Service where it has been 

recognised that improvement is required to ensure that IROs are effective in achieving 

better outcomes for children and young people. Whilst the challenges ahead appear 

substantial there is a commitment and determination from senior managers within the 

service to ensure that IROs can fulfil their responsibilities as identified within the IRO 

handbook.  There has already been a significant reduction in caseloads as a result of 

increased capacity and there is increasing evidence of the positive impact of this in 

strengthening IRO oversight of practice. However, further work is required to ensure 

the service works to consistent standards and there is a stronger focus on the quality 

of practice rather than compliance. Priorities for the coming year are clear and will take 

the IRO Service forward in line with the Improvement Plan. 

Eileen Brown              Interim Quality & Review Manager

Margaret Challenor    Interim Quality & Review Manager

Pam Cope                  Quality & Review Manager

Susan Morley    Interim Quality & Review Manager (PT)

Joanne O'Neill    Quality & Review Manager

Lesley Sheridan         Quality & Review Manager

Frances Widdop    Interim Quality & Review Manager

Andy Smith    Interim Safeguarding Manager

Page 54



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 39 •

Appendix 1: IRO Service Structure

1 x Head of Safeguarding Inspection & 
Audit

1 x Safeguarding Manager

0.5 x 
Quality & 
Review 

Manager
North

6.5 x IROs

Family Group 
Conference 
Coordinator

Officer

5.5 x IROs

Local 
Authority 

Designated 
Officer

1 x Quality 
& Review 
Manager

North

1 x Quality 
& Review 
Manager

East

1 x Quality 
& Review 
Manager

East

1 x Quality 
& Review 
Manager

East

1 x Quality 
& Review 
Manager
Central

1 x Quality 
& Review 
Manager
Central

8 x 
IROs 

8 x 
IROs 

4 x 
IROs 

6.5 x IROs

School 
Safeguarding 

Officer

6.5 x IROs

Senior Child 
Employment 

&
Entertainment 

Officer 

Page 55



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 40 •

Appendix 2: IRO Post-Qualifying Experience 

The tables below detail the level of post qualifying experience and length of service 
of IRO managers and IROs in Lancashire:

Quality & Review Managers

Name Year of 
Qualification

Years as an IRO Years as an IRO 
Manager

Eileen Brown 1996 2010 - 2016 2016

Margaret Challenor 1991 2010 - 2016 2016

Pam Cope 1996 2011 - 2016 2016

Susan Morley 1979 N/A 2016

Joanne O'Neill 1995 N/A 2015 - 2016

Lesley Sheridan 2004 2010 - 2013 2013 – 2016

Frances Widdop 1995 2001 - 2015 2015 – 2016

Page 56



Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2015 - 2016

• 41 •

Independent Reviewing Officers

Name Year began as IRO Year of qualification
IRO 1 2004 1995
IRO 2 2007 2000
IRO 3 2009 2003
IRO 4 2009 1993
IRO 5 2010 2005
IRO 6 2011 1982
IRO 7 2011 2000
IRO 8 2011 1989
IRO 9 2011 2000
IRO 10 2012 1987
IRO 11 2012 2007
IRO 12 2012 2004
IRO 13 2012 2007
IRO 14 2013 2006
IRO 15 2013 2001
IRO 16 2013 1979
IRO 17 2013 1998
IRO 18 2014 2001
IRO 19 2014 2004
IRO 20 2014 2006
IRO 21 2015 1970
IRO 22 2015 2008
IRO 23 2015 2002
IRO 24 2015 2006
IRO 25 2015 2008
IRO 26 2015 2006
IRO 27 2015 1981
IRO 28 2015 1994
IRO 29 2015 2010
IRO 30 2015 1987
IRO 31 2015 1996
IRO 32 2015 2009
IRO 33 2016 1995
IRO 34 2016 2005
IRO 35 2016 2010
IRO 36 2016 1997
IRO 37 2016 2009
IRO 38 2016 2001
IRO 39 2016 1997
IRO 40 2016 1992
IRO 41 2016 1988
IRO 42 2016 2006
IRO 43 2016 1999
IRO 44 2016 2009
IRO 45 2016 2010
IRO 46 2016 2011
IRO 47 Vacant

Page 57



Page 58



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\2\6\2\ai00043262\$pgfqy4bt.doc

Corporate Parenting Board 8 September 2016

Care Leaver's Guide – Update Report

Purpose of the report and Summary

The previous A-Z Guide is now out of date and requires updating.  Since May 2016 
we have been working with the Care Leavers group to explore how we should 
proceed to develop information, advice and guidance which is useful, accessible and 
useable.  We have been mindful that the piece of work also coincides with LCC 
strategically discussing and exploring the 'digital front door' to services.

We know from work with care leavers in Lancashire that the crux of the challenge 
they face in gaining relevant information is an understanding of their Legal Status as 
a care leaver.  Without an understanding on their legal status then it is very difficult 
for them to access information which is tailored to them.

Key messages from young people: 

 They want information which is tailored and relevant to them and timed to suit 
them, giving all the information at once is not useful.

 They want to be able to access bite sized information and used the example of 
Netflix.

 They want most information to be online but think there should be some printed 
material.

 They feel that Personal Advisers/other LCC staff they work with should have to 
use this information as a starting point.

 They want information which is relevant to them at that time. 
 They explored key tenancy information which is particularly relevant to them.
 Many of the national examples included both information and also activities.  The 

young people liked activity sheets which helped them explore particular areas but 
felt that and work books/ activity sheets should be separate and should be 
something they worked on with their PAs.

Key lessons from young people 'mystery shopping' for information: 

In early July we asked a group of care leavers to show us how they would obtain key 
bits of information from the web about leaving care.  Some of our findings are 
particularly relevant and interesting:

 The care leavers did not dwell on sites, they did not read long pages, and they 
did not 'search' for the information.  If the information was not readily and 
obviously available, if the pages had too much writing and/or were very long and 
if the information was not easily identifiable they moved on. 

 There is conflicting and contradictory information of LCC's website. 
 The young people all use Google as a search engine and readily sought 

LCC/Youth zone pages.
 The young people liked the gov.uk website.

Page 59

Agenda Item 9



- 2 -

d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\2\6\2\ai00043262\$pgfqy4bt.doc

 The search criteria/language used has a big impact on the results i.e. if you do 
not know what you're looking for, what it is called for example, then you cannot 
search for it.

 We were also reminded of the importance of support and reassurance from staff.  
The young people all got frustrated with the search, they got confused and most 
got bored, they sought reassurance from staff that they had found the 
information, they asked for help to understand what was written and/or how they 
should proceed. 

Recommendations

 Care leavers have to be informed about their legal status as this is the key to 
unlocking relevant information, advice and guidance.  It needs to be every 
member of staff understanding that this is their responsibility (particularly if they 
are social workers in the leaving care team and PAs).  A 'key' to unlocking ones 
legal status will be developed (in line with other national/international).

 Staff who work with care leavers must be better informed and updated about 
entitlements offered to care leavers (see above).

  LCC need to cleanse and update its online information and ensure that the 
information is up to date and accurate.

 We should 'test' this information with care leavers to see if it's better so if it is 
easier to understand, useful and useable. 

Next Steps

 Preparation for independence pack/curriculum is being developed with key 
stakeholders including care leavers, housing, health, foster carers and residential 
carers, this could also be linked into the Zone.  Will be a useful resource for CLA, 
carers, PA's and SW's.

 Changes to the LCC website will be made by the end of October.  This will 
involve a separate 'tab' which can be accessed from the Youthzone home page.  
This tab is currently called Being in care/ Complaints. 

Report Author: Hannah Peake, Strategic Lead for Participation, 
hannah.peake@lancashire.gov.uk 
Date of report production:  2 September 2016

Page 60

mailto:hannah.peake@lancashire.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Notes of the Meetings and Matters Arising from 16 June 2016 and 4 August 2016
	Minutes , 16/06/2016 Corporate Parenting Board

	6 IRO Annual Report (15 mins)
	9 Care Leavers Guide - An Update Report

